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UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
DISTRICT OF MASSACHUSETTS

ATLANTIC RESEARCH MARKETING LEAVE TO FILE GRANTED
SYSTEMS, INC. ON MARCH 11, 2010

Plaintiffs,

V. Civil Action No. 09-10034 (DPW)

AUSTIN PRECISION PRODUCTS, INC.
d/b/aLARUE TACTICAL

Defendant.

SECOND AMENDED COMPLAINT

Maintiff, Atlantic Research Marketing Systems, Inc. (“A.R.M.S.”), brings this action
against defendant, Austin Precision Products, Inc. d/b/aLaRue Tactical (“LaRue Tactical”) for
patent infringement, trade dress infringement, trademark infringement, common law unfair
competition, defamation, commercial disparagement, tortuous interference with contractual
and/or prospective business relations, and unfair competition under Mass. Gen. Laws ch. 93A.
By this Second Amended Complaint, A.R.M.S. seeks, inter alia, injunctive relief and monetary
damages and alleges as follows:

PARTIES

1 A.R.M.S. is a Massachusetts corporation with its principal place of business
located at 230 W. Center Street, West Bridgewater, Massachusetts. A.R.M.S. manufactures,
markets and sells innovative small arms accessories designed and developed by its founder,

president and Chief Executive Officer, Richard Swan. A.R.M.S.” products are sold domestically
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and internationally for military, government and civilian use through several channels, such as
retailers, distributors, internet sales and mail order catalogs.

2. Upon information and belief, LaRue Tactical isa Texas corporation with its
principal place of business located at 850 County Road 177, Leander, Texas. Upon information
and belief, LaRue Tactical manufactures, markets and sells small arms accessories. Upon
information and belief, LaRue Tactical has sold and continuesto sell its productsin
Massachusetts and throughout the United States through several channels, such as retailers,
distributors, mail order catalogs and over the internet.

JURISDICTION AND VENUE

3. This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 28 U.S.C.
88 1331 and 1338(a) and (b), and has supplemental jurisdiction over the state law and common
law causes of action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367.

4, The Court also has jurisdiction over this matter pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1332(a)
because the parties are citizens of different states and the amount in controversy exceeds
$75,000.00, exclusive of interest and costs.

5. This Court has personal jurisdiction over LaRue Tactical because, upon
information and belief, LaRue Tactical does business in Massachusetts and markets and sells
infringing products in Massachusetts.

6. Venueis proper under 28 U.S.C. §1391(b) and (c) and 28 U.S.C. § 1400(b).

A.R.M.S., Its Products and Intellectual Property

7. For over thirty years, A.R.M.S. and Richard E. Swan have designed,
manufactured, marketed and/or sold small arms accessories, and other mount interface devices

for commercia and military uses. Mr. Swan has invented and patented numerous devices for
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small arms products, and crew-served weaponry, such asiron sights, mounts, rail platforms,
deeved rails, dovetail rails, anti-armor mounts and grenade launcher mounts.

8. Among other things, A.R.M.S. develops and manufactures distinctive, high
quality weapon mounts for use in attaching to weapon platforms: flashlights, pistol grips, bipods,
dlings, optical lens sights, holographic lens sights, laser sights, and night vision devicesin the
nature of infrared detectors, invisible light projectors, thermal imaging, sensors, cameras and
SCopes.

9. For over twenty years, A.R.M.S. exclusively has used an actuator platform
extending from the side of many of its weapon mount configurations (the “Lever Mount
System”). Consumers of weapon mounts associate the Lever Mount System with A.R.M.S.

10.  To protect the substantial goodwill associated with the design of its weapon
mounts, Mr. Swan applied for and received a trademark registration from the United States
Patent and Trademark Office (“PTQO”) for its distinctive Lever Mount System (the “Lever Mount
Trade Dress’). (A true copy of U.S. Trademark Reg. No. 3,466,163, granted July 15, 2008,
reflecting afirst-use in commerce on June 1, 1998, is attached hereto as Exhibit A.) Mr. Swan
granted A.R.M.S. an exclusive license to make, use, market and sell the Lever Mount Trade
Dress.

11. A.R.M.S. also manufactures, markets and sells a specific type of dovetail weapon
mount, branded with the trademark, #17®, that features a rectangular base portion having a
substantially semi-circular actuator platform extending from one side thereof.

12. A.R.M.S. digtinguishesits #17® brand in the marketplace by offering a dovetail

weapon mount with superior design, performance, functionality and durability.
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13.  A.RM.S. first used the trademark, #17®, in commerce on June 1, 1998 in
connection with this particular type of weapon mounts and has been using it in commerce
continuously since then.

14. During its long, widespread and continuous use of the #17® brand, A.R.M.S. has
expended considerable sums of money to advertise and promote the #17® brand. The #17®
brand has been prominently featured throughout the United States and the world in brochures,
industry publications and on its web site.

15.  Through its promotion, advertising and quality of products, A.R.M.S. has
developed considerable goodwill in its #17® brand, which is widely associated by consumers as
weapon mounts manufactured and sold by A.R.M.S.

16.  To protect the substantial goodwill associated with its products, Mr. Swan applied
for and received a trademark registration from the PTO for its #17® trademark. (A true copy of
U.S. Trademark Reg. No. 3,385,512, granted February 19, 2008, reflecting first-use in commerce
on June 1, 1998, is attached as Exhibit B.) Mr. Swan granted A.R.M.S. an exclusive license to
exploit the #17® trademark.

17. The#17® brand isrecognized and relied on as identifying A.R.M.S. as the sole
source of goods designated with the #17® mark and has become widely known amongst
consumers and weapon mount industry as identifying high quality dovetail weapon mounts
originating from Plaintiff. Accordingly, the #17® mark is a valuable commercial asset.

18.  Additionally, to protect the substantial goodwill associated with the design of the
A.R.M.S. #17® weapon mount product, Mr. Swan applied for and received a trademark
registration from the PTO for its distinctive mounting platform (the “#17® Mounting Platform

Trade Dress’). (A true copy of U.S. Trademark Registration Reg. No. 3,478,909, granted August
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5, 2008, reflecting first-use in commerce on June 1, 1998, is attached as Exhibit C.) Mr. Swan
granted A.R.M.S. an exclusive license to make, use, market and sell the #17® Mounting
Platform Trade Dress registration to A.R.M.S. (The Lever Mount Trade Dress and the #17®
Mounting Platform Trade Dress collectively shall be referred to asthe “Trade Dress.”)

19.  The Trade Dressis unique in the weapon mount marketplace, examples of which
areillustrated in Exhibits D and E attached hereto.

20.  TheTrade Dress creates a unique commercial impression and sets A.R.M.S!’
weapon mounts apart from those offered by other manufacturers. Consumers of weapon mounts
associate the Trade Dress as originating from A.R.M.S.

21. In an effort to promote among weapon mount CoNSUMers a Conscious connection
between the Trade Dressand A.R.M.S.,, A.R.M.S. has expended considerable sums to advertise
and promote the Trade Dress and its associated products. The Trade Dress has been prominently
featured throughout the United States in press releases, industry publications and trade shows,
and on its website.

22.  Certain of A.R.M.S." dovetail weapon mounts also incorporate a specific type of
lever system known as a Throw Lever®. On July 11, 1989, the PTO issued to Mr. Swan U.S.
Patent No. 4,845,871 (the “* 871 patent”). (A true copy of the ‘871 patent is attached hereto as
Exhibit F.) Mr. Swan granted A.R.M.S. an exclusive right to exploit the ‘871 patent. The ‘871
patent expired on April 19, 2008.

23. A.R.M.S. has had great success selling its weapon mounts incorporating the
patented Throw Lever®.

24.  A.R.M.S’ patented weapon mounts are a valuable asset of A.R.M.S. and a

principal source of the company’s goodwill.
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LaRue Tactical’ s Products and I nfringement of the Trade Dress

25. LaRue Tactical manufactures, markets, sells and/or offers to sell, among other
things, weapon mounts through retailers, distributors, mall order catalogs and over the internet.

26. LaRue Tactical is engaging in the unauthorized use of the Trade Dressin
connection with the sale of weapon mounts. Select examples of LaRue Tactical’ s infringing use
of the Trade Dress are attached as Exhibit G.

27. LaRue Tactical’sinfringing use of the Trade Dress in connection with the
manufacture and distribution of weapon mounts is calculated to deceive consumers into
believing that LaRue Tactical’s products are provided by, originated from or are associated with
A.RM.S.

28. LaRue Tactical’s use of the Trade Dress in connection with weapon mountsis
likely to cause confusion with consumers and customers within the small arms industry.

29. Upon information and belief, LaRue Tactical intentionally copied the Trade
Dress.

30. Upon information and belief, LaRue Tactical is attempting to confuse and mislead
weapon mount consumers by offering for sale, advertising and selling its weapon mounts
through retailers, trade shows, catalogs and on the internet.

3L Upon information and belief, LaRue Tactical misappropriated the Trade Dress for
the express purpose of trading on A.R.M.S.” well-known and distinctive Trade Dress.
Infringement of the #17® Trademark

32. LaRue Tactical is manufacturing, marketing, selling and/or offering to sell

weapon mounts bearing the #17® mark.
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33. LaRue Tactical’s use of the #17® mark in connection with weapon mounts
implies, falsely, that it manufactures and sells #17® weapon mounts. (A true copy of awebsite
printout featuring the “LaRue Tactical Surefire 17 Upgrade LT-170" is attached hereto as
Exhibit H.)

34. LaRue Tactical’s use of the #17® brand in connection with weapon mountsis
calculated to deceive consumersinto believing that LaRue Tactical’ s weapon mounts are
provided by or associated with A.R.M.S.

35. LaRue Tactical’s use of the #17® brand in connection with weapon mountsis
likely to cause confusion with consumers and customers within the small arms industry.

36. Further, upon information and belief, LaRue Tactical is using the #17® mark in
connection with weapon mounts for the express purpose of trading on A.R.M.S.” well-known
and respected #17® brand.

I nfringement of the ‘' 871 Patent

37. LaRue Tactical is manufacturing, marketing, selling and/or offering to sell
weapon mounts incorporating a so-called “ speed lever” (the “ Accused Products”).

38.  The Accused Products infringe one or more of the claims of the ‘871 patent.

39. A.RM.S wroteto LaRue Tactical demanding that it immediately cease and desist
its sale of the Accused Products. Notwithstanding this, LaRue Tactical continued to market and
sell the Accused Products.

40. LaRue Tactical intentionally infringed the ‘871 patent by manufacturing,
marketing, selling and/or offering for sale the Accused Products in the United States, including

M assachusetts.
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41. LaRue Tactical’ s wrongful actions were conducted without authorization or
license.

42. LaRue Tactical had prior knowledge of the ‘871 patent, and therefore its conduct
is both willful and deliberate.

LaRue Tactical’s Defamatory Statements

43. On or about July 18, 2009, an internet dialog titled “ARMS vs. Troy Federal
Court Awards ARMS $1.8 Million For Theft of Secrets’ (the “ Thread”) began.

44, Upon information and belief, the Thread was available for review, and was
viewed by individuals associated with the small arms accessories industry, including customers,
prospective customers and supplier of A.R.M.S.

45, Upon information and belief, Larue Tactical participated in the Thread under the
moniker “LaRue Tactical.”

46. LaRue Tactical made numerous statements in the Thread concerning this
litigation, A.R.M.S. and A.R.M.S." products. A true copy of LaRue Tactical’s comments on the
Thread is attached hereto as Exhibit I.

47.  Onor about July 21, 2009, LaRue Tactical made false and defamatory statements
in the Thread stating that A.R.M.S.” products frequently failed, that it was“criminal” that
A.R.M.S. products were being installed on combat items, that A.R.M.S. products endangered the
lives of American soldiers, and that A.R.M.S. products endangered missions conducted in
America swar on terror.

48.  Onor about July 22, 2009, LaRue Tactical made false and defamatory statements
in the Thread stating that it had corroborating information showing that A.R.M.S.” products

endangered American soldiers and missions.
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49, On or about July 23, 2009, LaRue Tactical made false and defamatory statements
in the Thread stating that A.R.M.S. had engaged in a practice of fraudulently threatening
litigation.

50. On or about July 24, 2009 at approximately noon, LaRue Tactical made false and
defamatory statementsin the Thread stating that A.R.M.S. products were manufactured in China.

51. Upon information and belief, LaRue has participated in other internet dialogs
concerning A.R.M.S. and A.R.M.S." products and has made other false and defamatory
statements.

52. Indeed, since mid-2009, LaRue Tactical has effectively stalked A.R.M.S. over the
internet, engaging in a persistent and malicious on-line campaign designed to improperly defame
A.R.M.S,, disparage its products, interfere with its customer base and prospective customer base,
and cause pecuniary and other harm to A.R.M.S. and its business. LaRue Tactical has done so
by making, and then facilitating and/or encouraging others to make, false, misleading and/or
disparaging comments about A.R.M.S. and its products.

53. LaRue Tactical’s internet campaign has been pervasive and unrelenting, and has
included false, misleading and/or disparaging comments about the quality of A.R.M.S.” products
and the integrity of A.R.M.S.’ business practices. For example, LaRue Tactical has falsely,
misleadingly and/or disparagingly stated in public on-line chat rooms that:

a A.R.M.S. products are substandard or inferior;

b. A.R.M.S. products are defective and unfit for intended use;

C. A.R.M.S. products experience a 20% failure rate;

d. A.R.M.S. products spontaneously break;
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e A.R.M.S. productsfail in combat, cause deaths of American soldiers, impair U.S.
military operations, cause mission failures, or otherwise impede American War
efforts,

f. A.R.M.S. products are made in China, not the U.S.A.;

g. A.R.M.S. engages in fraudulent business practices by threatening and/or filing
frivolous litigation against its competitors; and

h. itis“criminal” to allow the use of A.R.M.S.’ Throw Lever products a issuein
this suit.

54. LaRue Tactical has also wrongfully enticed other persons to defame and/or
disparage A.R.M.S,, its employees and its products by concocting an internet-based lever mount
exchange program intended to, among other things, disseminate negative publicity and generate
ill-will towards A.R.M.S. and its products. LaRue Tactical’s campaign has even led to the public
dissemination of postings which contain threats and intimidation against A.R.M.S. and certain of
its employees.

COUNT |
(Infringement of the ‘871 Patent—35 U.S.C. 8271)

55. A.R.M.S.realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 54 as if
fully set forth herein.

56.  Defendant knowingly and intentionally infringed the ‘871 patent.

57.  A.R.M.S. has suffered substantial damage as aresult of Defendant’ s infringement
of the ‘871 patent including, but not limited to, the loss of commercial value of its Throw
Lever® product line, loss of the value of its patent, loss of goodwill, and other injuriesto

A.R.M.S." business.

10
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58. A.R.M.S.isentitled to an accounting of defendant’s profits derived from the sale
of the Accused Products.

59.  Defendant committed such actsin an intentional and willful manner that make
this case exceptional under 35 U.S.C. § 285.

COUNT |1
(Federal Trade Dress I nfringement—15 U.S.C. §1125(a))

60. A.R.M.S. readlegesand incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 59 as if
fully set forth herein.

61. Defendant, without the consent of A.R.M.S., has used, and is using, in commerce
A.R.M.S." Trade Dressin connection with the sale and offering for sale of weapon mounts,
which useislikely to cause confusion, or to cause mistake or to deceive.

62. Upon information and belief, Defendant had actual knowledge of A.R.M.S.
ownership and prior use of the Trade Dress and, without consent of A.R.M.S., has used, and is
using, the Trade Dress with the intent to trade upon A.R.M.S.’ reputation and goodwill by
causing confusion and mistake among customers and the public, and by deceiving them.

63. Defendant’ s acts constitute trade dress infringement in violation of Section 43(a)
of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. 81125(a).

64.  Defendant’s acts are intentional, willful and in bad faith.

65. Theaforesaid acts of Defendant have caused, and are causing irreparable harm
and damage to A.R.M..S., and unless preliminary and permanently restrained by this Court, said
irreparable injury will continue.

66. A.R.M.S. hasno adequate remedy at law.

11
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COUNT |11
(Federal Unfair Competition, False Designation of Origin and
False Advertising—15 U.S.C. §1125(a))

67. A.R.M.S. realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 66 as if
fully set forth herein.

68.  Theaforesaid acts of Defendant constitute the intentional use of words, terms,
names, symbols and devices and combinations thereof, false designations of origin, and false and
misleading representations of fact that are likely to cause confusion, or to cause mistake, or to
deceive as to the affiliation, connection or association of Defendant with A.R.M.S,, or asto the
origin, sponsorship or approval of Defendant’ s products.

69.  Theaforesaid acts of Defendant constitute the use of words, terms, names,
symbols and devices and combinations thereof, fal se designations of origin, and false and
misleading representations of fact that in commercial advertising or promotion, misrepresent the
nature, characteristics or qualities of Defendant’ s products or other commercial activities.

70.  Theaforesaid acts of Defendant constitute false designation of origin, false and
misleading descriptions and representations, federal unfair competition and false advertising in
violation of Section 43(a) of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. 81125(a).

71.  Theaforesaid acts of Defendant have caused, and are causing, great and
irreparable harm and damage to A.R.M.S., and unless preliminarily and permanently restrained
by this Court, said irreparable injury will continue.

72.  A.R.M.S. has no adequate remedy at law.

COUNT 1V
(Federal Trademark Infringement—15 U.S.C. 81114)

73.  A.R.M.S. realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 72 as if

fully set forth herein.

12



Case 1:09-cv-10034-DPW Document 120 Filed 03/15/10 Page 13 of 21

74.  Defendant, without the consent of A.R.M.S., has used in commerce marks
confusingly similar and/or identical to A.R.M.S.’" federally-registered #17® trademark in
connection with the sale and offering for sale of weapon mounts, which useislikely to cause
confusion, or to cause mistake or to deceive.

75. Defendant’ s acts constitute trademark infringement in violation of Section 32(1)
of the Lanham Act, 15 U.S.C. § 1114.

76.  Defendant’s acts are intentional, willful and in bad faith.

77.  Theaforesaid acts of Defendant have caused, and are causing, great and
irreparable harm and damage to A.R.M..S., and unless preliminarily and permanently restrained
by this Court, said irreparable injury will continue.

78.  A.R.M.S. has no adequate remedy at law.

COUNT V
(Common L aw Unfair Competition)

79. A.R.M.S. redleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 78 as if
fully set forth herein.

80.  Defendant’s aforesaid acts are a violation and derogation of A.R.M.S." common
law rights and are likely to cause confusion, mistake and deception among consumers and the
public as to the source, origin, sponsorship, or quality of Defendant’ s products, and Defendant’s
aforesaid acts are likely to cause confusion, mistake and deception among consumers and the
public as to Defendant’ s affiliation with or sponsorship by A.R.M.S. of Defendant’ s aforesaid
acts.

81. Defendant’ s aforesaid acts are causing loss, damage and injury to A.R.M.S. and to

the purchasing public.

13
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82.  Defendant knows, or in the exercise of reasonable care should know, that its
conduct is likely to so mislead the public.

83.  Theforegoing conduct by Defendant has been knowing, deliberate, willful,
intended to cause mistake or to deceive, and in disregard of A.R.M.S.’ rights.

84. Defendant’ s wrongful acts, as aleged above, have permitted or will permit it to
make substantial sales and profits on the strength of A.R.M.S." nationwide and international
marketing, advertising, sales and consumer recognition.

85.  Asadirect and proximate result of Defendant’ s wrongful conduct, as alleged
above, A.R.M.S. has been and will be deprived of substantial sales of products and servicesin an
amount as yet unknown but to be proved at trial, and has been and will be deprived of the value
of itsregistered trade dress, trademarks and brand in an amount as yet unknown, but to be
determined at trial.

86. Theaforesaid acts of Defendant constitute unfair competition in violation of
common law.

87. Theaforesaid acts of Defendant have caused and are causing irreparable harm and
damageto A.R.M.S., and unless preliminarily and permanently restrained by this Court, said
irreparable injury will continue.

88. A.R.M.S. hasno adequate remedy at law.

COUNT VI
(Defamation)

89. A.R.M.S.realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 88 as if
fully set forth herein.

90. A.R.M.S.isnot apublicfigure.

14
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91 LaRue Tactical made and published false and defamatory statements about
A.R.M.S. on the Thread to third persons, including, but not limited to, customers and prospective
customersof A.RM.S.

92.  Thefase and defamatory statements made and published by LaRue Tactical are
reasonably susceptible of a defamatory meaning.

93.  Thefase and defamatory statements made and published by LaRue Tactical
would tend to hold A.R.M.S. up to scorn, ridicule or contempt in the minds of to third persons,
including, but not limited to, A.R.M.S." customers and prospective customers.

94. Upon information and belief, LaRue Tactical made and published such false and
defamatory information with at least negligent care for the veracity of the information.

95. Upon information and belief, LaRue Tactical made and published such false and
defamatory information with malice or reckless disregard for the veracity of the information.

96. LaRue Tactical published such false and defamatory information in writing.

97.  Thefase and defamatory statements made and published by LaRue Tactical were
defamatory per se.

98. Tactical, A.R.M.S. has suffered both general damages to its reputation and special
damages.

COUNT VII
(Commercial Dispar agement)

99. A.R.M.S.realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 98 as if
fully set forth herein.
100. LaRue Tactical’s statements as specified in paragraphs 43-54 and 90-98 above are

false and untrue, and disparaged A.R.M.S." products and business practices.

15
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101. By posting and allowing the posting of the statements on the internet, LaRue
Tactical published the false and disparaging statements to a wide range of personsin the public.

102. LaRue Tactica negligently published the false and disparaging statements
causing certain customersto regard A.R.M.S." products as dangerous, and imputing
reprehensible conduct to A.R.M.S.

103. LaRue Tactical published the false and disparaging statements about A.R.M.S.’
products, causing A.R.M.S. to suffer special and general damages, including the monetary loss
of at least one important and valuable client, and injury to the reputation of A.R.M.S. and its
products.

104. LaRue Tactical published the false and disparaging statements with knowledge
that the statements were false, or with reckless disregard as to the falsity thereof.

COUNT VIII
(Tortious I nterference with Contractual and/or Prospective Business Relations)

105. A.R.M.S. realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 104 as if
fully set forth herein.

106. A.R.M.S. had existing contractual and/or prospective advantageous business
relations with readers of the ar15.com blog that LaRue Tactical knew or should have known
were profitable or potentially profitableto A.R.M.S.

107. After thefiling of thislawsuit, LaRue Tactical knowingly and intentionally took
actions, including but not limited to those specified in paragraphs 43-54 and 90-98 above, with
improper motive and means, and with intent to gain unfair advantage in the marketplace, that
interfered with A.R.M.S." contractual and/or prospective advantageous business relations.

108. Asadirect result of LaRue Tactical’swrongful actions, A.R.M.S. has suffered,

and continues to suffer, damages in an amount to be determined at trial.

16



Case 1:09-cv-10034-DPW Document 120 Filed 03/15/10 Page 17 of 21

COUNT IX
(Violation of Mass. Gen. L aws c. 93A)

109. A.R.M.S. realleges and incorporates by reference paragraphs 1 through 108 asiif
fully set forth herein.

110. LaRue Tactical isengaged in trade or commerce within the Commonwealth of
Massachusetts.

111. LaRue Tactical committed unfair methods of competition and deceptive acts or
practices in trade or commerce by knowingly and willfully making and publishing false and
defamatory statements about A.R.M.S.

112. LaRue Tactical committed unfair methods of competition and deceptive acts or
practices in trade or commerce by using marks that are confusingly similar and/or identical to the
marks used by A.R.M.S.

113. LaRue Tactical committed unfair methods of competition and deceptive acts or
practices in trade or commerce by making false, misleading and disparaging statements about
A.R.M.S." products and business practices.

114. LaRue Tactical committed unfair methods of competition and deceptive acts or
practicesin trade or commerce by wrongfully interfering with A.R.M.S." contractual and/or
prospective advantageous business relations.

115.  Such actions constitute unfair and deceptive acts in trade or commercein
violation of Mass. Gen. Law 93A.

116. LaRue Tactical’sunfair methods of competition and deceptive acts and practices
in trade or commerce have caused A.R.M.S. to suffer financial damage.

117. LaRue Tactical’sunfair methods of competition and deceptive acts and practices

in trade or commerce will continue to injure A.R.M.S. unless enjoined.

17
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118. LaRue Tactica’sunfair and deceptive acts and practicesin trade or commerce
have been willful violations.

RELIEF REQUESTED

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff, Atlantic Research Marketing Systems, Inc. prays for judgment
initsfavor and against Defendant Austin Precision Products, Inc. d/b/aLaRue Tactical, and
requests that:

A. Judgment enter in its favor and against Defendant on each Count of the
Complaint;

B. Defendant be adjudged to have infringed the ‘871 patent and that such
infringement be adjudged to have been willful;

C. A.R.M.S. be awarded damages in an amount no less than a reasonable royalty for
Defendant’ s infringement of the ‘871 patent;

D. A.R.M.S. be awarded treble damages pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 284 because of the
willful nature of Defendant’ s acts;

E. A.R.M.S. be awarded prejudgment interest;

F. A.R.M.S. be awarded its costs, attorneys' fees, and expensesin this suit under 35
U.S.C. § 285;

G. Defendant, and each of its officers, directors, agents, servants, employees and
representatives, and those persons in active concert or participation with them or any of them, be
preliminarily and permanently enjoined and restrained from:

Q) using on or in connection with the advertising, promotion, offering for
sale, sales or distribution of small arms products, the #17® Mark or any variations thereof that

are confusingly similar to Plaintiff’ s#17® Mark;
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2 using on or in connection with the advertising, promotion, offering for
sale, sales or distribution of small arms products, the Trade Dress or any variations thereof or
anything confusingly similar thereto;

3 representing by any means whatsoever, directly or indirectly, or doing any
other act (or things calculated or likely to cause confusion, mistake or to deceive consumersinto
believing that Defendant’ s products are those of A.R.M.S,, or that there is any affiliation or
connection between A.R.M.S. or its products and Defendant or its products, and from otherwise
unfairly competing with Plaintiff);

4 causing to be advertised, published or disseminated by any means any
false or misleading representations as to the existence of any relationship between Defendant and
A.R.M.S. or between any products of Defendant and any products and services of A.R.M.S;;

5) disparaging A.R.M.S.” products and business practices,

(6) interfering with A.R.M.S.” contractual and/or prospective advantageous
business relations;

H. A.R.M.S. recover its damages sustained as aresult of Defendant’ s infringement,
unfair competition and false designation of origin under federal, state and common law,
commercial disparagement, and tortuous interference with A.R.M.S." contractual and/or
prospective advantageous business rel ations, together with an accounting of Defendant’ s profits
arising from such activities, and that the Court exercise its discretion and enter a judgment for
such additional sums as the Court shall find to be just, according to the egregious, willful and
intentional nature of the acts of Defendant;

l. Defendant be required to: (1) surrender for destruction, or other disposition at the

election of A.R.M.S,, all extrusions, molds, dies, components-in-progress, components,
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production materials, products, castings, fixtures, prints, computer programs, solid modeling,
prototypes, engineering records and all means of manufacture associated with the production of
products that infringe A.R.M.S.” Trade Dress; and (2) recall from any and all channels of trade,
any and all advertising or promotional materials using the #17® mark and/or the Trade Dressin
connection with small arms products or any variations thereof that are confusingly similar to
Plaintiffs mark and/or Trade Dress, and to take affirmative stepsto dispel any false suggestion of
aconnection to A.R.M.S. by virtue of its activities, including, but not limited to, all necessary
and appropriate corrective advertising measures,

J. A.R.M.S. recoverstreble damages under 15 U.S.C. 8§ 1117;

K. A.R.M.S. recoversits reasonable attorneys' fees pursuant to 15 U.S.C. § 1117,

L. Defendant, and each of its officers, directors, agents, servants, employees and
representatives, and those persons in active concert or participation with them or any of them, be
preliminarily and permanently enjoined and restrained from making any further false,
defamatory and disparaging statements against A.R.M.S;;

M. Defendant be required to take affirmative steps to dispel the false, defamatory and
disparaging statements published by it, including, but not limited to, all necessary and
appropriate corrective advertising measures,

N. A.R.M.S. recoversal general damagesto its reputation incurred as a result of
Defendant’ s false, defamatory and disparaging statements;

0. A.R.M.S. recovers special damages incurred as aresult of Defendant’ s false,
defamatory and disparaging statements;

P. A.R.M.S. recoversal attorneys fees expended as aresult of Defendant’ s false,

defamatory and disparaging statements;
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Q. A.R.M.S. recovers all attorneys fees expended as result of LaRue Tactical’s
violation of Mass. Gen. Law c. 93A.

R. A.R.M.S. recoverstreble damages as aresult of LaRue Tactical’ s violation of
Mass. Gen. Lawsc. 93A.

S. A.R.M.S. recoversiits costs and disbursements herein; and

T. A.R.M.S. be awarded such other and further relief as this Court may deem just
and proper.

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

A.R.M.S. requests atrial by jury on all issues so triable.

ATLANTIC RESEARCH MARKETING
SYSTEMS, INC,,

Date: March 15, 2010 By: /s Paul J. Cronin

Paul J. Hayes (BBO# 227,000)

pjhayes@mintz.com

Paul J. Cronin (BBO# 641,230)
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One Financial Center

Boston, MA 02111
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